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 SENATOR GORDON:  Good morning, everyone. 

 We have a number of committees underway now, and so--  I 

know Senator Weinberg is in Judiciary and Senator Vitale, I believe, is 

testifying on behalf of one of his bills somewhere else and I don’t want to 

keep our witnesses waiting.  And so let’s get started. 

 We are receiving testimony today regarding the planned closure 

of the Hagedorn Psychiatric Hospital in June 2012, and we’re interested in 

hearing today the status of the transition and to learn about how the clients 

are going to be dealt with in the future. 

 We have a number of people who have indicated the desire to 

testify today; one is Ed Smith, who is Chief of Staff to Senator Doherty.   

Is--  Ed, are you here? 

E D W A R D   J.   S M I T H:  (off mike) I am. 

 SENATOR GORDON:  I wonder if you could join us and 

present your testimony. 

 Please proceed. 

 MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Senator.  

 Senator Doherty sends his regrets that he was unable to attend.  

But in the text that he had sent me he said that Mother Teresa would want 

me to attend. (laughter) 

 And, indeed-- 

 SENATOR GORDON:  She’s not here to testify. (laughter) 

 MR. SMITH:  I understand.  But, indeed, I find the timing of 

this hearing to, indeed, be a miracle because I will be ending as his Chief of 

Staff in a few short days at the end of the term.  And I had served on the 
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Mental -- as his aide -- on the Mental Health Task Force -- the Facilities 

Task Force -- and that was my most moving assignment.  And I had the 

opportunity to go and visit all of the facilities.  I toured all those mental 

hospitals; I gathered insight into the field of geriatrics; and, as a result, drew 

a lot of conclusions, only to find a few short months later that my father 

would come down with dementia. 

 Of all the facilities, one could not help but be struck by the 

bucolic beauty of Mother Teresa Drive at Hagedorn.  We have a beautiful, 

beautiful facility to take care of our geriatric citizens who have the 

misfortune through just natural aging to be unable to speak for themselves.  

And the Senator has continually advocated to keep it open; and at this 

point when he said, “How would I speak?” -- and I said, “How could I 

speak?”  And now I’m going to speak for myself as having gone to those 

task force meetings and having visited those different facilities.  And, 

interestingly enough, my computer crashed as I tried to write this down 

because I figured it’s just going to come from my heart. 

 We have a facility in Hagedorn that was unique and specialized 

for what is going to be a growing demographic of the citizens of the State of 

New Jersey: of our elderly.  And as I had come to see, dementia and 

Alzheimer’s sneaks up on people who are productive members of society 

and then are suddenly are unable to take care of themselves.  I personally 

believe, after study, that application of Olmstead suggesting the 

reintegration of these individuals is a total misapplication of that principle.  

I also want to clarify that in no way do I wish to anger the Governor; but 

only hope that there can be a loud voice, which I hope I contribute to, that 

I hope this Committee contributes to, to keep Hagedorn open.  These 
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individuals, these elderly individuals, should not be integrated into 

populations -- general populations of the psychiatrically challenged because 

they’re just not able to take care of themselves.  And that experience is 

something that I wanted to share. I feel so strongly.  And I would only hope 

that the Governor would just take one more look at keeping Hagedorn open 

-- and I do truly believe that, and maybe that would right that one great 

disappointment of my career -- with watching Hagedorn be shuttered.   

 Thank you for your time. (applause) 

 SENATOR GORDON:  Thank you. 

 And I want to tell you, as someone who is currently dealing 

with this very same issue -- a loved one with dementia trying to find an 

appropriate place for that person -- it’s something that I’m sure that is 

affecting thousands, if not millions, of families who really need to find a 

perfect way to address this need.  

 Phil Lubitz of NAMI is also here.  Phil, would you like to 

testify? 

P H I L L I P   L U B I T Z:  Thank you, Senator Gordon, members of the 

Committee. 

 My name is Phil Lubitz.  I am the Associate Director of NAMI 

-- New Jersey National Alliance on Mental Illness.  NAMI is the state’s and 

the nation’s largest organization advocating for persons with mental illness 

and their families. 

 So we’ve testified previously about the -- regarding our concerns 

around the closing of Hagedorn.  Briefly, those included the adequacy of 

the State’s plan to treat, really, a mushrooming cohort of geropsychiatric 

patients; the safety of individuals who had been injured at other psychiatric 
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hospitals and transferred to Hagedorn for their own safety; the effect that 

this closing will have on the remainder of the State psychiatric hospitals; 

and again, the adequacy of our community mental health system to 

appropriately integrate these people into the community. 

 So since we last testified there have been some changes.  Kevin 

Martone has left the Department of Human Services and, essentially, the 

plan to close this facility was Mr. Martone’s.  Lynn Kovich has taken over 

as the new Director of the Division of Mental Health Services.  Now we’ve 

had a chance to meet with Ms. Kovich, and we’re confident that she has the 

skill and the ability and desire to lead the Division. 

 So to its credit, the Division of Mental Health and Addiction 

Services is on target with their agreements in the Olmstead Settlement with 

Disability Rights New Jersey.   You know, essentially, I think, when you 

take that down to its smallest piece, that Settlement calls for reducing the 

number of individuals who are conditionally extended, pending placement, 

in our hospital, reducing both the amount of time they spend in the 

hospital and also the number of people who are on that status. 

 To a large part, then, that was the State’s primary reason for 

deciding that they could close Hagedorn: that that Olmstead plan would 

reduce the census.  Each of the last couple of years there has been 

additional funding in the budget to create new placements.  In this current 

FY ’12 budget there’s funding to create 95 new community residences for 

individuals who are in the CEPP status; in addition, another 50 residential 

settings to prevent the possible hospitalization of individuals who are either 

homeless or at-risk of hospitalization. 
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 So new admissions have been terminated at Hagedorn.  I think 

the latest census data I received this morning said there are currently 173 

patients at Hagedorn.  And, historically, there have been between 10 and 

20 discharges each month from Hagedorn.  So it’s quite likely that the 

Division is going to meet their target of having about 100 patients 

remaining in the hospital June 30 when they plan to close the facility.  In 

addition, they have planned to create two, 25-bed units at Greystone -- 25 

beds for people with dementia, 25 beds for people who are medically frail.  

They’ve also awarded funding for a program that will outreach to senior 

citizens experiencing psychiatric emergencies.   

 So our concerns, however, is that what’s less clear is although 

they’ve done quite a bit of work at preparing Greystone to accept patients, 

the plan calls for geriatric patients from the southern region -- again, 

Senators Whelan, Madden -- I think you should be interested in that -- 

we’re going to be going to Ancora Psychiatric Hospital.  And although 

Ancora has always had a very small number of geriatrics, in no way have 

they ever provided the types of care for these specialized people with 

medical frailities, or people with dementia that currently exists at Ancora.  

We just don’t have evidence that the kinds of preparation that have taken 

place to accept patients at Greystone is taking place at Ancora Psychiatric 

Hospital. 

 We still have concerns that it appears, although there was a 

significant reduction in census during the period that was looked at in 

deciding to close the facility, over the past 19 months there essentially has 

been no diminishment in the number of people in our psychiatric hospitals.  

So again, I think our State psychiatric hospitals, over the last 19 months, 
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are down five patients and our county psychiatric hospitals -- six of those -- 

those are up four patients.  So essentially, over 19 months, there has only 

been a net change of one patient.  This comes at a time when we have been 

putting in significant resources to build additional community capacity.  

And one interpretation might be that we have sort of squeezed out all the 

efficiencies we’re going to squeeze out.  And unless we continue to put 

about $5 million in resources into -- new resources into building capacity 

every year, that we’re going to face that kind of overcrowding that led to the 

Department of Justice being at Ancora Psychiatric Hospital.  And I just 

want to remind you that the Department of Justice remains at Ancora 

Psychiatric Hospital and we’re waiting for their final report. 

 In addition, the hope of the Olmstead Settlement was that 

people would be going to supportive housing in the community and, again, 

a good deal of funding has gone to that supportive housing.  But looking at 

the data, it still remains clear that the primary burden for accepting patients 

who have been hospitalized remain with the family members -- the largest 

group of people continue to be discharged to families.  And over this period 

there really have been no additional supports that have been provided for 

these families to care for their relative in the community. 

 In addition, a far larger number of people continue to go to 

residential healthcare facilities, particularly in the southern region.  And in a 

NAMI survey -- and I’ve given you just a little bit of it attached to my 

testimony -- those residential healthcare facilities are--  When we polled a 

little over 1,100 people, those were favored by less than 2 percent as an 

appropriate place for people with mental illness to go. 
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 So in addition to about $2.5 million we’re putting in each year, 

I think just to keep ourselves equal at the hospital, I think as we move into 

the next budget year we should be considering, probably, at a minimum, 

another $2.5 million so that we’re not sending 100 people a year to, really, 

inadequate boarding facilities.  And I think, Senator, you probably have one 

of those right in your district; I mean, a facility -- two of them -- facilities-- 

 SENATOR SINGER:  The largest in the state -- 240 beds. 

 MR. LUBITZ:  Yes, these are facilities no one would want their 

family member to go to.   

 SENATOR SINGER:  Well, if I just might--  Madam Chair, 

could I just-- 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Yes, go ahead. 

 SENATOR SINGER:  On your line of comments:  There are 

two things I want to share with that.  Number one is:  Part of the problem 

is they’re totally underfunded -- the residential care facilities.  The amount 

of money they’re given is nominal to care for these individuals.  You know, 

the one in Lakewood -- which grew to be 240 beds -- was the reaction about 

the closure of Marlboro.  And as you know, because of that, Kimball is the 

busiest PES unit in the state -- number one in the state.  And part of that is 

that -- and you have the Dover retirement; it’s also on our border in Toms 

River.  The same thing.  But the biggest problem is that we have never 

increased the allotments there.  And not that I’m advocating for the--  But 

again, if you take a look at how much they’re given per patient, it’s awfully 

inadequate. 

 MR. LUBITZ:  Senator, if I may interrupt.   
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 I did an unscientific study in my own home county of 

Hunterdon.  And I compared the room and board rate for people with 

mental illness to the room and board rate of a variety of dog kennels.  And 

in every instance there was a higher rate for the dog kennel than there was 

for the boarding of the mentally ill. 

 SENATOR SINGER:  I don’t want to say also in the pounds in, 

like, Ocean County, so-- 

 But let me tell you what galls me about this:  When these 

people were in the hospital the cost was $100,000 a year.  They go into 

these facilities -- the cost is not even one-third of that.  And then we end up 

wondering why these places are so poorly run and why new ones can’t be 

built -- so that’s number one.  We’ve got to understand that the State saved 

the money by closing these facilities and it is supposed to follow the client -- 

it never did.  And that’s been the big lie that’s always happened.  And this 

has happened through every administration.  I think, you know -- Ron left, 

but he will agree on that.  But the problem is, there is no money to run 

these things.  And their medication is distributed to them and their hopes 

are to keep them quiet.  But, as you know, what happens is they are not 

prisoners and they have the right to leave these facilities, and sometimes 

they do and go off their meds and, unfortunately, we’ve had accidents 

where they’re killed on the highway, because they do leave at night, and all 

kinds of other problems there. 

 But number one is that I think we have to look at that whole 

system and how it’s funded and everything else like that -- number one.  

Number two, which I also see happening, is the State is doing less and less 

to help families at home.  And what they’ve done is, they’ve pushed a lot of 
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it for child care out of it and pushed everything to seniors -- talking more 

for the adults than the children.  But in these cases, families are taking the 

brunt of keeping their family member they want to keep at home -- 

especially if it’s a child or a juvenile, and even into young adults -- and will 

fare better in their own home and is less expensive in their own home.  But 

we’re lessening the support monies for them, and that’s becoming more and 

more apparent.   

 So as we close these facilities, it isn’t like the money’s going to 

follow the client, the money’s going to go to the towns, the money’s going 

to help them.  It disappears.  And the only gainer of all these facilities is the 

State, financially.  The problem is that the clients suffer.  And not that 

these facilities are outstanding; I mean, I would be absolutely frightened if 

you’re telling my seniors that they have to go down to Ancora -- and I sit on 

the board of a mental health hospital.  I am sharing with you that it is 

absolutely ludicrous that we’re spending less money -- or trying to spend 

less money -- to help people keep their loved ones in their homes, giving 

them less respite, giving them less support services, giving them less money, 

and then turn around and say, “And we’re going to close the mental health 

facilities.”  Where do these people go?   

 And that’s why we end up, in a lot of cases, having to send 

people out of state.  And they don’t like doing that because it costs a 

fortune of money.  But think about one thing:  We’ve allowed the closure of 

every facility in the state.  It started in Allaire; we closed Brisbane -- for 

children -- which you have virtually nothing left in the state; you closed 

Marlboro; now you’re talking Hagedorn.  All these other situations are all 

narrowing the choices that families have.  And then if you had at least said, 
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“Well, look at all the money we’re putting into taking care of families in 

their home, we’re giving them better support.  And if they need to have 

someone come in their house more often, we’re doing that.  We’re helping 

families with respite.”  I’d at least say, “Well, you know what?  We’re doing 

something.”  We’re not doing that.   

 And I’m only saying, is it’s -- mental health illness --  you know, 

it’s a wide range of everything.  Remember, with mental health, mental 

health children are always cute because they’re young and they’re cute.  

Mental health adults are not cute.  And there are a lot of other issues we 

deal with that.  For some reason we’ve swept this under the rug in the State.  

And because the groups that we represent are these silent groups, because 

no one likes to raise their hands and say, “By the way, I have mental illness 

in our family and it’s a problem,” we’ve let it go for a long time, and it is 

absolutely criminal what we’re doing to these families; it really is. 

 MR. LUBITZ:  Thank you for your comments. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Let me add:  You summed up, I 

think, the feelings of many people on this Committee and the constituents 

we represent.   

 I take issue with one statement: that we’ve swept this under the 

rug.  There are many of us who have been talking about what is happening 

to the folks as they close the larger institutions.  Many of us have been 

talking for years -- including you, Senator Singer -- about the 8,000-person 

waiting list that never gets addressed while we’re adding more people to 

that waiting list on a daily basis.  And, adding to my disappointment, the 

Department was too busy to send one person here this morning to, maybe, 

hear this and, perhaps, help answer any questions.  I don’t know why 
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they’re so busy at the beginning of this new year, with a very large 

bureaucracy, that nobody from the Department could come and speak.  But 

that speaks for itself, also. 

 So I think this is an issue that we’ve been trying to get our arms 

around -- that we’re closing institutions, you’re letting people out, you’re 

saving the $100,000-a-year or whatever cost and it is not following the 

person; and that family members who have loved ones who have been in 

some of these institutions who are now middle aged -- and have been in 

these institutions, literally, their entire lives -- you know, this is the place 

they know, the place that they call home.  So there are a lot of unanswered 

questions here.  And the Olmstead decision, though very desirable, didn’t 

implement anything -- it’s up to the State to implement it.  And I don’t 

think we’ve done a great job in doing it.  So one of the reasons for the 

hearing. 

 Thank you.  Continue. 

 MR. LUBITZ:  Well, again, I appreciate your calling this 

hearing for these very reasons. 

 You know, again, after meeting with Director Kovich again, I 

really believe that she has good faith in wanting to provide the very best 

services possible for people in the community. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Excuse me a minute -- and I don’t 

mean to imply that anybody doesn’t want to do it.  I know the members of 

the Department and particularly the people in the service end of this do 

want to do it.  But they don’t have magic wands; and if they don’t have the 

resources and the folks to help with planning and the places to go, their best 

intentions are really irrelevant. 
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 SENATOR SINGER:  Madam Chairwoman, what you said is 

correct.  I mean, the answers for every Administration that has been -- and 

you’ve been around here -- I’ve been here a little longer -- but every 

Administration, when it’s come to cuts, this is where the cuts have come.  

I’ve said to you if I sat here and advocated for the residential care facilities, 

people would say, “Why would you advocate for those people?”  And I’m 

only saying, if you found out the amount of dollars per day per client they 

get, it is so inadequate.  You wonder why their lunch is cheese sandwiches.  

I mean, the answer is it’s problematic.  And as I said to you, in our 

community what happens is the clients sometimes are not properly dressed 

to leave the facility in cold weather, and all kinds of other issues that were 

just--  You know, they’re not prisoners, but there’s no one there to do that.  

And a lot of the day programs have closed down, as you know, because the 

sheltered workshops (indiscernible) financially had problems and just 

couldn’t maintain these things. 

 It is--  We really have to take a whole look at how we’re dealing 

with clients in their homes with their families -- whether they’re a baby on 

through to seniors -- how we’re dealing with the clients in residential care 

facilities -- if that’s the direction the State’s going.  And I don’t have a 

problem with that if the money is there.  And the problem is, what has 

happened in prior administrations, Madam Chairperson -- and I know for a 

fact -- that if you complain too much, we’ll cut you more.  And that’s been 

the outcry.  I mean, we expect people to run these group homes, and we 

give them less money.  And yet, health care to their employees and other 

factors to their employees keep going up, and then we say, “They can’t keep 

staff.”  And you know there’s nothing more disruptive with special needs 
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than changing staff.  And it’s been a continual outcry that, again, it’s--  You 

know what?  You’re right:  I hope in your new role, Madam Majority 

Leader, that we’ll have more voice with that. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Well, I hope a magic wand comes 

along with that one, too. 

 SENATOR SINGER:  Well, I hope I can give that to you. 

(laughter) 

 MR. LUBITZ:  So hopefully this hearing, then, can be an 

impetus to adequately fund some of the things that we know do work.  In 

this we give you some results of the survey that tells you where people 

would like to live.  And that is both from -- including professionals, 

consumers, and family members.  So I think we have a road map of what 

works.  I think it’s really within our grasp to have people live in appropriate 

places.  And hopefully we can move forward, as you say, to give -- help the 

Division with both personnel -- to move a plan forward -- and also the 

funding to move that forward. 

 I just also ask that we start--  The plan to close Hagedorn 

alludes to an evaluation that will be done after the closing of the hospital.  

And really, after the closing, the horse is out of the barn.  We really need 

some real-time evaluation to not only see where people are going -- we have 

that -- but how they’re faring in the places they’re being placed -- you know, 

whether it’s in a community residence, whether it’s with family, whether it’s 

in a residential healthcare facility.  You know, having that knowledge is 

really the only way we can tailor a system that will provide the best 

outcomes for consumers of mental illness and their families. 

 So with that-- 
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 SENATOR SINGER:  Just one last--  I’m sorry, just one-- 

 Where we have to take a look -- and I think the mental health 

groups have to get together on this.  I know, for example, the cost -- again, 

kids, when they’re in school -- the school my nephew goes to is $89,000 a 

year.  But that doesn’t include transportation and other factors.  So it 

probably costs, maybe, $130,000, $140,000.  He has Down syndrome.  But 

the problem is that once they age out -- that magic age of 21 -- everything 

stops.  So we spend hundreds and hundreds of thousands of dollars -- 

millions of dollars -- to get to that point.  And then we expect -- excuse me, 

stealing your idea -- the magic wand to suddenly take care of them from 

then on.  And then we give all this less money thinking that their needs are 

so much less.  And that is really one of the great problems with this: that we 

front-end load it and all of a sudden once they age out, they’re now 

someone else’s problem, and there’s no money there. 

 MR. LUBITZ:  Right -- until a crisis arises, and then you’re 

dealing with the most expensive care. 

 SENATOR SINGER:  Exactly right.  Until the family calls and 

says, “I can’t handle them.” 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Any other questions here from the 

Senators? (no response) 

 MR. LUBITZ:  Thank you. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Thank you.  (applause) 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Carolyn Beauchamp. 

 Good morning. 

C A R O L Y N   B E A U C H A M P:  Good morning.  Am I on? 
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 SENATOR WEINBERG:  I tell people, “This is Trenton.  Red 

means go.”  (laughter)  The red light means go, and every place else it 

means stop. 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  You have to re-think how you see that. 

 SENATOR GORDON:  Not in Beijing. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Oh, not in Beijing?  Oh, I’ve never 

been in Beijing so I wouldn’t know.  

 SENATOR GORDON:  Red is go in Beijing. 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  Nor have I, so I was a little confused. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Show off. (laughter) 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  Thank you so much for hearing me this 

morning. 

 I’m Carolyn Beauchamp; I’m President of the Mental Health 

Association in New Jersey.  I have been involved in the mental health 

system for a very long time.  The good news about that is that I have seen 

changes, both in the clinical area and in the systems area, over a good 30-,  

35-year period.  And as we look at the closure of another State hospital, I 

wanted to share a couple of things that I think are extremely important if 

this is going to be successful. 

 And I want to applaud my colleague, Phil Lubitz, because he 

raised a lot of some very detailed information that I think was very 

important.  I’m going to speak to just two issues, and I think they’re just 

broader in scope, supporting pretty much what he said. 

 I think when we’re closing a hospital it causes enormous 

concern, fear; there’s a lot of change that goes on.  And one of the questions 

that we asked at the Mental Health Association is: how do we help?  
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What’s our responsibility?  What’s the government’s responsibility?  

What’s the Department’s responsibility?  How do we make this the most 

successful that we can for both consumers and family members? 

 And as I was thinking about it, I came up with two thoughts: 

one was as I looked back there had been other closures in New Jersey.  New 

Jersey is very slow to close our institutions.  I’m not sure if that is a good or 

a bad thing.  But Arthur Brisbane -- which I think Senator Singer 

mentioned before -- was closed some time ago, and I don’t know the exact 

year; a children’s facility, the last State-run facility for children.  We believe 

that it was done successfully; and the reason that it was successful -- one of 

the reasons -- was that there was a bridge fund provided by the State to 

provide services in the community before anybody left.  And the money 

from Brisbane was then taken to the community to continue to provide 

needed services for kids.  So there was quite an uptick in services for 

children. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  When did Arthur Brisbane close?  

Do you remember? 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  It was over 10 years ago, I think. 

 SENATOR SINGER:  More than 10; I think it was 15 years 

ago. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  So has there been any actual study 

of what’s happened over those 10 years to the-- 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  Well, what-- 

 SENATOR SINGER:  I can tell you, actually, we have had to 

place several children from my district out of state because there’s no State 

facility.  And that’s a problem because then the parents now have to go out 
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of state.  We placed them in New York and we placed them in 

Pennsylvania.  So the answer is--  And I just question one thing with your 

comment:  There might have been a bridge, but I’m curious how much that 

fund has increased from 15 years ago to those communities, because I 

haven’t seen it in my community. 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  The bridge fund is temporary. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  I--  Just before you answer-- 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  I’m sorry. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:   Because you said “we feel that’s 

been successful” because of the bridge fund.  And what--  I think we’ve had 

other pieces of legislation, other hearings, to request that there really be a 

study so that we have some analysis of what really happens and the people 

aren’t saying, “We feel that that’s good, or that that’s bad, or it affected me 

in a bad way or a good way.”  And I think that’s been missing.  And I think 

for a couple of people who Senator Singer knows, it hasn’t been successful 

and they have had to be sent far away at very big costs.   

 SENATOR SINGER:  Too costly. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  So that’s one thing that I think -- 

probably the most important thing -- that’s been missing from all of this is 

the willingness to actually follow up what is happening to these folks and to 

their families.  And, I mean, I know I’ve had constituent issues; you know, 

there’s nothing like getting a call from a family in an emergency room at 11 

o’clock at night with a child, and no place to put them and no bed available 

-- no appropriate bed available.  So the answer is: keep them in the 

emergency room for three days.  And those kind-- 
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 SENATOR SINGER:  I’ve seen it in every hospital in the state, 

by the way. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Exactly. 

 Go ahead. 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  My turn? (laughter) Okay. 

 I think through the Division of Child Behavioral Health, which 

is now part of the Department of Children and Families, we’ve been very 

involved in their restructuring.  And they have a very significant uptick in 

children services.  There has always been a huge issue of children being 

placed out of state -- residentially placed -- because we’ve had nothing in 

state for them.  They were really not connected to a hospital stay or a non-

hospital stay, but these are kids who, even through after a hospital stay, 

need special residential treatment.  Now, I can’t speak for the Department, 

but what I know from my dealings with them is that they’ve done -- 

through their special system of delivery of service -- they’ve provided a lot of 

in-home services, a lot of work with families; there are in-hospital units 

called CCIS units.  The children’s sector of mental health has grown, really, 

incredibly.  I think we’ll always have the problems and we have to be able to 

deal with those problems.  But when I say I think that’s been successful, I’m 

basing it on the expansion that we see for services.  And I think it would 

help -- and just to get to the second point that was going to be -- and I’ll get 

to that in just a minute -- I think a follow-up assessment is critical when 

we’re doing something like this.  

 My other memory of watching something close was when 

Marlboro closed; and again, that was some time ago.  Keep in mind, 

though, that when Brisbane closed it had a capacity of 80 kids -- not a lot -- 
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but 80 kids; compared to Marlboro, which had an 800 capacity.  So that 

was huge.  It was extremely difficult and, again, there was a bridge fund.  

And that’s temporary money -- just to start getting things going in the 

community.  Then when they downsized and closed, that money, again 

from Marlboro, was transferred to the community.  So it seems to me -- and 

you’ve said this, Senator, and I think Phil said the same thing -- we’ve got 

to have money in the budget.  The $9 million from the downsizing of 

Hagedorn this year is going back to the General Fund because of our 

financial situation. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Doesn’t that make you question 

whether or not this is an economic decision rather than a good decision on 

behalf of the clients who are being served? 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  It makes me question how we can get 

some of that $44 million the next year that absolutely has to go for 

supporting the people.  I’m sure there are always political reasons; I’m sure 

there are always many reasons.  But my focus is on how do we make it 

better, how do we intervene to make this better for the people who are 

going to be living in some other setting.  And, in the past, we’ve been able 

to divert those funds to the community.  I think we have to fight to make 

that happen again.  And yes, of course, it’s part political. 

 The other thing that they did with Marlboro -- which I think 

we need to do again and I don’t know if it’s in the works -- is to assess--  

They hired an independent assessing company to come in and, within six 

months, they spoke to the people who were being discharged to the 

community to see how that placement was going.  They came back in a 

year-and-a-half -- between a year-and-a-half and two years -- and met again 
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with those people, because you don’t know within six months how they’re 

going adapt.   

 And I’m hoping they also met with family members; I think 

they really do need to do that.  Phil was absolutely right:  An awful lot of 

our people are going to families.  And I’m also concerned that we don’t 

provide enough services to families as part of these discharges.  We need to 

do that because so many of our folks are going home to families.  That 

needs to be beefed up. 

 So those are the things that we feel if we can get them put in 

place we can have successful closure. 

 And I thank you, and I am open to questions. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:   Thank you, and thank you for your 

advocacy over the years, in the past, and what I know will continue in the 

future. 

 SENATOR WHELAN:  Just-- 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Senator Whelan. 

 SENATOR WHELAN:  Just one question, Ms. Beauchamp:  

The $44 million -- is that the Hagedorn budget? 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes. 

 SENATOR WHELAN:  Is that where that number came from?  

Thank you. 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  We’re hoping once it closes totally, that’s 

the amount of money that can be saved. 

 SENATOR WHELAN:  Okay. 

 SENATOR SINGER:  Madam Chairwoman. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Senator Singer. 
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 SENATOR SINGER:  Unfortunately, I was involved with 

Marlboro closing, because I represented it in my district, and I was the 

Mayor of Lakewood that year.  Governor Whitman closed Marlboro. 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  Right. 

 SENATOR SINGER:  I sat in a room with every commissioner 

and the Governor and they promised all of us from Ocean and Monmouth 

County that there would be bridge money, and then after that--  Well, as 

Mayor of Lakewood we never got any bridge money.  We never got 

anything -- except they got the largest residential care facility in the state.  

They transferred it from Marlboro to my town.  And I will tell you it is, 

essentially, the largest PES unit in the state.  Doesn’t that sound a little 

strange that the busiest PES unit in the entire State of New Jersey is in 

Lakewood -- busier than the ones in New York City?  And the other factors, 

as we talk about all these services (indiscernible) like that, where money 

follows.   

 And when the Chairman talked about every hospital in the 

state you see juveniles sitting with their parents in hospital gowns on 

gurneys waiting for beds -- we haven’t had an increase in juvenile beds in 

Ocean and Monmouth County in 20 years.  There is an absolute 

breakdown.  And what I’m sharing with you is the bridge money is only for 

a small time; the people remain.  They don’t go away after two years or 

three years -- they are there 10 and 15 and 20 years.  And we’re left with 

the problems.  And there’s no money left.  As I said to you, we used to have 

several sheltered workshops in Lakewood; they’ve gone away.  And now I 

have these clients that, I think in the last two years, five of them have died 

from automobile accidents.   
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 And it is criminal the way we treat people with mental illness 

and other disabilities along those lines.  And I’m your advocate.  And the 

problem is, as I said to you, it’s not--  This isn’t this Administration -- 

hasn’t created -- this has been going on for 20 years, as long as I’ve been 

down here.  The problem is that the groups you represent are wonderful 

people and they keep it quiet.  They don’t--  They’re not outside protesting, 

and not doing anything else like that.  And I’m only sharing with you:  We 

have to take a look -- and I agree with the Chairperson -- that we’ve got to 

do a study; we’ve got to take a look at these issues.  We’ve got to say, “You 

know--”   

 I’ve got a facility in Lakewood, and I hope you would come 

down there.  It’s called the Children’s Center.  And the Children’s Center is 

probably run with 75 percent volunteers who take $1 and makes it into 

$10.  They can’t get funding.  And they provide services for hundreds of 

families.  And all I’m sharing with you is there’s something missing when 

this is happening.   

 And I will tell you I represent--  I live in the largest town in 

Ocean and Monmouth County: Lakewood, population 93,000 and growing.  

And I will tell you that the needs are very big in my community because we 

have large families.  As you know, with larger families the chance of having 

a special needs child grows.  But I will tell you that we have to look at the 

whole system -- from birth to death -- of how we’re dealing with these 

issues.  And it’s not, certainly, your fault -- you’re an advocate for it -- but 

what I’m saying is our concern is there’s $44 million being saved.  It’s not 

going back into the pot.  And that’s where the Chairperson is so right in 
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saying if the $44 million from Hagedorn was going into the mental health 

pot-- 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  But how do we make that happen? 

(laughter) 

 SENATOR SINGER:  Well, that’s what we’re talking about.  

That’s where she’s right on the money. 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  Because we have to make -- at least some 

of that money, that has to happen. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Take away the red pen. 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  If I can comment--  Just a couple of 

things as you were talking, Senator--  I chaired--  There was a boarding 

home advisory council some years ago; I chaired it for 10 years.  And what 

we looked at were the boarding homes and the RHCFs across the state --  

what was successful, what wasn’t successful; a lot of complaints, of course, 

particularly about boarding homes.  And one of our chief recommendations 

that just could gain no traction was that we needed to increase New Jersey’s 

commitment to SSI.  We haven’t increased SSI, I don’t think, ever.  The 

Federal match has gone up every year with cost of living; New Jersey has 

never increased it.  And as you were talking-- 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Could you explain that a little 

further -- what you mean that we’ve never increased? 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  The Social Security, the SSI amount, 

which is for those living in a group setting-- 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  And that is set by the State? 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  It’s a blend between the Federal 

government-- 
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 SENATOR GORDON:  State-Federal match. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Yes, but is our portion established by 

the State? 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  And then we get the Federal match. 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  So we always get more Federal 

monies. 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  All right, go ahead. 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  What we--  Now, this was, again, some 

time ago.  That was one of our prime recommendations that we were--  And 

we had the same analogies -- that the amount of money that was going for 

people -- because, obviously, these are poor people, many on SSI-- 

 SENATOR SINGER:  And have no family. 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  Excuse me? 

 SENATOR SINGER:  And have no family. 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  And have no family, and are elderly, and 

have other disabilities -- are living on very little.  And those who run these 

places are barely getting by.  And I think the reason that it’s been very 

difficult to gain any traction about increasing that is because they’re private.  

There’s a view that people are making tons of money, that people are 

driving around in Cadillacs, and that people who run these places are 

scamming all this money from these people, taking their money.  And we’re 

not giving them any more money.  And that individuals--  Just the SSI rate 

cannot be raised, because there are all kinds of SSI: there’s rates for 
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individuals, there’s rates for those in community settings, in these housing 

settings.  And you then have to raise them all.  But the biggest--  I think the 

biggest damage we’re seeing is in boarding homes and RHCFs.    

 We also don’t have any way to regulate them, and we talked a 

lot about that, because they’re between Department of Health and 

Department of Community Affairs.  So I’m very interested in that; it’s been 

a long-time concern. 

 The other thing is, the Mental Health Association -- we have a 

program office in your county, and we’re running programs there around 

employment, around people with mental illness, and I’d love to talk with 

you more about that.  I’d like to chat with you later about it.   

 SENATOR SINGER:  Thank you. 

 MS. BEAUCHAMP:  But I thank you. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Thank you.  

 Doctor Ronald Schroeder, CWA. 

R O N A L D   E.   S C H R O E D E R,   Ph.D.:  Good afternoon, 

Senator Weinberg and members of the Senate Committee.  I thank you for 

the opportunity to speak with you today regarding the closure plan of 

Hagedorn and the placement of our patients. 

 I am Doctor Ronald Schroeder, clinical psychologist at 

Hagedorn, and a participant in the treatment plan process for the 

continuity of services in the community once our patients are discharged. 

 I am presently in my 27th year with the Department of Human 

Services, having worked at Marlboro, Greystone -- both new and old -- 

North Jersey Developmental Center and, presently, at Hagedorn. 

You're viewing an archived copy from the New Jersey State Library.



 
 

  26

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  You don’t look old enough for any of 

that. 

 DR. SCHROEDER:  No, no, no -- thank you very much.  I was 

born on Leap Year Day, so I’m having my 13th birthday in a few weeks. 

(laughter) 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Oh, that explains it. 

 SENATOR SINGER:  Is that like a Bah Mitzvah? (laughter) 

 DR. SCHROEDER:  Let me get to the meat of the matter.   

 In general terms, the placement status of patients at Hagedorn 

remains largely uncertain and unclear.  The ill-conceived plan to close the 

hospital has now evolved into a poorly managed one.  The census at 

Hagedorn has dropped over the past year from 285 patients in February of 

2011 down to 164 patients as of yesterday.  This reduction has been 

possible largely because of the diversion of Hagedorn admissions to the 

other hospitals that began last September, along with the ongoing discharge 

of the psychiatrically stable patients to the community. 

 The patients who remain at Hagedorn today are those who are 

the most difficult to place in the community and/or those who need 

extended hospitalization.  As we continue to phase down, clinicians at 

Hagedorn are finding it more and more difficult to secure adequate services 

in the community to meet the needs of our patients.  Simply put, we have 

dramatically increased the number of patients from Hagedorn living in the 

community without a commensurate increase in the amount of services for 

those patients in the community.  As a result, the resources in the 

community are at capacity and they’re becoming overwhelmed.  

Consequently, the treatment teams at Hagedorn are being encouraged by 
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the Division to consider less-than-optimal and, perhaps, less-than-adequate 

discharge plans for Hagedorn patients.  We’re being pressured to discharge 

to substandard placements that we wouldn’t have considered just a couple 

of months ago. 

 The closure plan, as it’s playing out, is not being done for the 

benefit of the patients.  The leadership in the Division and in the 

Department is examining, on a regular basis, the number of patients at 

Hagedorn, the number of patients discharged, without concern for the 

individuals involved and their mental health needs.  If we continue along 

this track we will continue to place our patients at risk. 

 Greystone Psychiatric Hospital, where a large number of our 

patients are scheduled to go, is currently very near to capacity.  Yesterday, 

the census at Greystone was 481.  I believe their total capacity is 500: 450 

in the new building and 50 among the cottages that are still affiliated with 

the hospital.  They have experienced an average 20 patient growth -- 20 

patient growth -- per month since we stopped taking admissions in 

September.  So some months they’ve seen 30 or 40, and some months 15, 

but an average of 20 for September, October, November, and December.   

That means they have 20 more patients coming in than going out per 

month. 

 If the Division continues on its current path, that hospital will 

shortly be gravely overcrowded.  That will certainly-- 

 SENATOR SINGER:  Madam Chair, could I-- 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Yes, Senator Whelan. 

 SENATOR WHELAN:  Pardon me for interrupting, Dr. 

Schroeder. 
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 Those 20 patients you just alluded to:  Are they from 

Hagedorn, or are they from the general population? 

 DR. SCHROEDER:  They are from-- 

 SENATOR WHELAN:  Or are they from Greystone? 

 DR. SCHROEDER:  It’s a mixture, but it is exacerbated by the 

fact that Greystone is now accepting the patients that would have gone to 

Hagedorn-- 

 SENATOR WHELAN:  Right. 

 DR. SCHROEDER: --were Hagedorn able to receive new 

admissions.  

 SENATOR WHELAN:  Okay. 

 DR. SCHROEDER:  So in the coming weeks, our most fragile 

and elderly patients who are left at Hagedorn will become, likely, Greystone 

patients and placed into that population.  They will find themselves in a 

soon-to-be overcrowded facility, ill-equipped to manage our special 

population.  The questions that need to be answered by Commissioner 

Velez at this point in time are:  What is the current Greystone census?  

What is the target Greystone census -- because it’s going to be above 500.  

What is the plan for the transfer of Hagedorn’s geriatric, severe mentally ill 

folks to Greystone?   

 Meanwhile, back at Hagedorn, we’ve seen a gradual 

compression of the number of patient wards as the census has reduced.  

That has placed the residual group of patients who are chronically mentally 

ill, including a number of highly violent individuals, in close proximity to 

one another.  This has resulted in a recent spike in violence at Hagedorn.  

Just this past Tuesday there were three significant patient-to-staff assaults, 

You're viewing an archived copy from the New Jersey State Library.



 
 

  29

two of which required police intervention and emergency transportation to 

the ER at the Med Surg Hospital.  Two staff members were seriously 

injured and permanently disfigured just two days ago at Hagedorn.  Now 

Hagedorn’s Risk Managers, the Human Services police, and the New Jersey 

State Police that are involved in these assaults are investigating the 

incidents; however, it is clear to the treating clinicians that patient 

uncertainty and anxiety associated with the closure was a major contributor 

to the violence on Tuesday.  The Division and Department need to develop 

a plan -- a better plan -- to avoid getting that great concentration of the 

chronically mentally ill, the difficult to place, the highly violent folks in 

such close quarters to one another, including transfer of those individuals to 

the soon-to-be-overcrowded Greystone Hospital in Morris Plains. 

 All of this could have been avoided were Hagedorn to stay 

open.  The community and other psychiatric hospitals cannot handle the 

fragile elderly with severe persistent mental illness.  Closing Hagedorn will 

hurt the most vulnerable citizens of New Jersey.   

 Again, I want to thank the members of the Committee for the 

opportunity to express my concerns at this time. (applause) 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Thank you, Dr. Schroeder. 

 Any questions? (no response) 

 Thank you.  Do we have a copy of your written testimony? 

 DR. SCHROEDER:  Yes. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Okay. 

 Diane Cameron and Esther Post, along with Gerard Meara, 

from AFSCME. 

D I A N E   C A M E R O N:  Good morning. 
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 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Good morning. 

 MS. CAMERON:  Thank you for taking the time to meet with 

us this morning. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Identify your--  By name. 

 MS. CAMERON:  My name is Diane Cameron.  I work at 

Hagedorn Psychiatric Hospital.  I’ve been there since 1982; I work as an 

aide.  I’m the mother of five and the grandmother of six. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Congratulations. 

 MS. CAMERON:  I never thought that I would see Hagedorn 

close.  I’ve been there half my life.  When I started working there it was a 

geriatric center, then we went to geropsych, and now we’re adult psych.  We 

always specialized in geriatric psychiatric.  Back in the 80s we had the 

building in Trenton closed, and we got the patients from the Raycroft 

Building when they closed.  Those patients weren’t in good shape.  When 

we got those patients we did the best we could for them.  They had a lot of 

decubitus, they would be decompensated -- and we did the best we could 

with them. 

 I think we give excellent care at the hospital; also, our JCAHO 

comes through on a regular basis and we have excellent reviews from 

JCAHO.   

 Ron gave the statistics -- he’s the doctor at our hospital -- and 

I’m just going to give you a little review of what’s going on from an aide’s 

point of view. 

 We have patients who have been discharged, and -- under the 

Olmstead Act -- and they are supposed to go out to the communities and be 

funded out in the communities and stay there, although they’re being 

You're viewing an archived copy from the New Jersey State Library.



 
 

  31

recycled into other psychiatric hospitals.  They’re not being successfully 

discharged. 

 Our central office is having problems placing our nursing home 

patients, because most of the nursing homes that can’t sustain our patients 

are sending them to our psych hospital because we specialize with them. 

 The emergency rooms are overcrowded for days with our 

patients because they have no place to send them.  And like Ron said, 

Greystone is pretty much at capacity and they will be over census by the 

time we try to close our hospital.   

 Also, is anybody monitoring what’s going on with our patients 

as they’re going out?  We had a patient that we discharged from Hagedorn 

who was put into an emergency room situation in a general hospital who 

gouged her eyes out, and now she’s blind.  She’s currently in Greystone.  

This is one instance. 

 As Ron told you, we have other patients who are under a lot of 

stress with anxiety.  And the other day -- pounded a nurse’s face, broke her 

nose and ribs, and this is out of character for this patient -- because 

everybody is so stressed with our hospital closing. 

 We had another incident of an aide being punched in the face, 

and a lab technician.  This doesn’t currently happen at Hagedorn.  When I 

asked if these patients were going to forensic as they have in the past, I was 

told, “This stuff goes on all the time down in Trenton Psych.”  So we’re not 

accustomed to this.  Our patients are more protected at Hagedorn, being 

the geriatric patient, because we specialize in that.  The other hospitals do 

not specialize in that. 
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 We just want somebody to review to make sure our patients are 

okay.  We want them not to just review for one month; we want them to 

follow our patients for more than a month.  I don’t believe closing this 

hospital was because we do a bad job; I believe it’s a political move and it’s 

more monetary than it is anything for our patients. 

 And in closing, I was there when Mother Teresa was there, and 

it would be a miracle if we can keep our hospital open. 

 Thank you. (applause) 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Thank you. 

 I think, you know, something that clearly emerges from this is 

certainly the necessity for a long-range study on what’s happened to 

patients who have been let out.  We’ve got--  We should be able to do that, 

at least with Brisbane -- 10 years past, at least.  And I think some of Dr. 

Schroeder’s questions should be put to the Commissioner through this 

Committee. 

 It’s unbelievable.  I mean, what are we going to do when 

Greystone gets to capacity?  Go back to the days when newspaper reporters 

or political figures have to go undercover to find out what’s going on at 

overcrowded institutions?  So I think these are very, very worthwhile 

questions, and I go along with Senator Singer -- I’m not going to lay all the 

blame at this Governor’s doorstep.  It’s gone on for a number of years.   

 One of my--  I first came into the New Jersey State Assembly 

way back in the Dark Ages of 1992.  And one of the first issues we were 

involved in was -- whatever committee I was serving on -- a hearing on the 

4,000-person waiting list -- people who were living at home and needed 

community settings.  And some 25 years later, we now have an 8,000-

You're viewing an archived copy from the New Jersey State Library.



 
 

  33

person waiting list.  So we haven’t made great strides and we seem to be 

adding to it by this, what I call, Olmstead decision -- which is a wonderful 

decision, but no implementation came along with that.  

  And that is up to the State of New Jersey.  And by sweeping it 

under the rug, and pretending that this is somehow a good, patient-centered 

decision, is not going to make it.  And although this is my last meeting as 

the Chair of the Health and Human Services Committee, I’m hopeful in my 

role as Majority Leader maybe I can convince you all even more that this is 

an area that this Committee is going to keep its attention on, and get 

answers to the various questions that have been raised here. 

 So I think we have representatives from the Hagedorn Family 

Group -- do we?  (no response) 

 And we’ve heard from the Hagedorn employees, so-- 

 For those of you who took the time to come out, thank you.  

And to Senator Addiego, thanks for staying. 

 Oh, I’m sorry -- we do have somebody else who wanted--  Oh, 

no; we’re looking outside.  

 UNIDENTIFIED MEMBER OF AUDIENCE:  (Off mike)  She 

stepped out for a minute. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Thank you for staying.  It’s always 

the sign of who’s got the good discipline and stick-to-it-tiveness who 

manages to get through an entire Committee meeting.   

 So did you have something you wanted to add to testimony? 

M A R Y   Z D A N O W I C Z:  Oh, thank you. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Please give us your name and who 

you’re representing. 
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 MS. ZDANOWICZ:  My name is Mary Zdanowicz, and I 

represent my sister who is a patient. 

 And thank you.  I wasn’t expecting to testify, but-- 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Deep breath. (laughter) 

 MS. ZDANOWICZ:  Hearing Dr. Schroeder’s testimony about 

the violence at Hagedorn is extremely upsetting to me because she is at 

Hagedorn -- because when she was at Ancora she got the living daylights 

beat out of her.  And I actually have a whole list of the many, many, many 

times that she was hurt.  I’m her guardian; I didn’t know three-quarters of 

the time. 

 I actually showed it to Senator Vitale.  You know, I know he 

knows a lot about this area, and even he was shocked.  

 She had been at Marlboro, and when Marlboro closed, went to 

Ancora.  She initially went there because they were going to have a special 

unit for people like her who were vulnerable.  But it didn’t take long before 

the census grew so much that they could no longer keep that special unit.  

And then she was put in with the general population.  And I would like to 

submit what happened to her because, frankly, as her guardian, I was 

ashamed when it started -- that I didn’t know.  And I visited regularly. 

 The prospect of this happening to her again is terrifying to me.  

So I hope that there is something that can be done to protect these 

patients. 

 Since she’s been at Hagedorn she’s been safe; and not only that, 

but she’s had the proper psychiatric treatment so that her condition is a lot 

better.  Her psychiatrist is fantastic.  The thought of losing that is really 

distressing. 
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 I will also tell you that I am the guardian for my brother who 

has schizophrenia as well.  He’s in Massachusetts.  And I have spent the last 

year trying to get him into a psychiatric hospital in Massachusetts; I finally 

succeeded in September.  But before that he was in and out of emergency 

rooms almost on a regular basis.  He had lost so much weight from not 

eating regularly.  But what happened to him is what’s happening to people 

now, which is they go into an emergency room, they wait for a week for a 

bed, maybe they stabilize, they get sent back, and then they’re in again.  

Their medical needs aren’t taken care of, their psychiatric needs aren’t 

taken care of. 

  As I say, I finally got him into the state hospital up there; and 

that’s only because I have the resources to do that, I know enough people, 

and I wouldn’t give up.  And he’s finally doing well.  They took care of his 

medical needs; he finally, for the first time in I don’t know how many years, 

has a psychiatrist actually evaluating him and getting him on the right 

medication. 

 But what happened up there is going to happen here if we 

continue closing hospitals.  And there are people with severe mental illness  

-- I know from my own family experience -- who need that kind of care. 

 So I thank you for the opportunity to speak.  

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Thank you, and I am sure they are 

both lucky to have you as an advocate for them and for people, generally, in 

this area. 

 And I think you summed it up:  I think we have to take the 

responsibility to make no mistake that this is about finances.  And if we 

decide that the State cannot afford these services, that’s a decision that 
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should be made in the sunlight, in the daylight, well aware of what the 

results are.  This is not an area that somebody can come in and wave what I 

talked about earlier -- about the proverbial magic wand -- and make your 

brother and sister better, and back in the community in a small group home 

doing wonderfully.  So when we make those decisions as a State, I just want 

everybody to be aware of what the responsibility is and what the outcome 

is, because we’re not going to change it without -- this is one area that 

actually needs money.  Throwing money at the problem happens to be the 

right answer. 

 So with that, thank you very much. 

 Does anybody have any questions? (no response) 

 Well, again--  Gee, your side of the aisle (indiscernible).  

(laughter)  Thanks for representing them and being here, and I know 

Senator Vitale will be carrying on this fight on behalf of the Committee. 

 And to Senator Whelan; to my friend and colleague from 

Bergen County, Senator Gordon, thank you for all your cooperation over 

the last two years. 

 SENATOR GORDON:  Thank you for your service. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  This is the one Committee I’ll be 

sorry to leave. 

 SENATOR WHELAN:  Thank you for your leadership here, 

Madam Chair. 

 SENATOR WEINBERG:  Thank you. 

 Take care, everybody, and happy new year. 

 

(MEETING CONCLUDED) 
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